
1. In tro duc tion. Rea sons for con sult ing fo ren sic 
psy chol o gists 

One of the main aims of in ves ti ga tive psy chol ogy
is psy cho log i cal pro fil ing, that is draw ing in fer ences
about the traits of an un known of fender on the ba sis of
anal y sis of an act com mit ted [1, 10, 13]. Anal y sis and
in ter pre ta tion of victimological data, man i fes ta tions of 
the be hav iour of the of fender at the crime scene, lo ca -
tion and the time of crime al low us to draw up a psy -
cho-phys i cal de scrip tion of the un known per pe tra tor,
i.e. a so-called pro file. The re sults of the work of the
profiler usu ally serve to nar row down the num ber of
sus pects, and also in di cate fur ther di rec tions of in ves -
ti ga tion. Such a pro file is drawn up in a sit u a tion where 
no sus pect has been de ter mined/es tab lished, or where
the in ves ti ga tion is not fo cused on a spe cific per son

[4, 12]. On the ba sis of a psy cho log i cal anal y sis of
a se ries of crimes com mit ted by an un known per pe tra -
tor(s), it is also pos si ble to as cer tain whether they were
all com mit ted by the same per son or by var i ous per -
sons [3, 7, 9]. In such cases, we may be deal ing with
a sus pect, to whom com mis sion of some acts may be
at trib uted with out dif fi culty, but for whom there is no
data in di cat ing un am big u ously that he was also the
per pe tra tor of others. 

The case de scribed be low con cerns just such a sit u -
a tion. The pros e cu tion asked ex perts to as sess
whether, on the ba sis of a psy cho log i cal in ter pre ta tion
of traces and man i fes ta tions of the of fender’s be hav -
iour in three dif fer ent cases (5 ho mi cides), it is pos si -
ble to as cer tain that they were com mit ted by the same
per son. 
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The in ves ti ga tion be ing con ducted con cerned
a sus pect re ferred to as Krzysztof G. Cer tain psy -
cho-phys i cal char ac ter is tics of the sus pect cor re -
sponded to traces re vealed in the sec ond case. Dur ing
ques tion ing, Krzysztof G. de nied be ing the per pe tra -
tor, changed his state ments many times, once even
pleaded guilty, but fi nally de nied hav ing any con nec -
tion with these kill ings. The events be low are de -
scribed chro no log i cally (it should be men tioned that
this was the first psy cho log i cal ex pert re port car ried
out in this field by ex perts from the De part ment of Fo -
ren sic Psy chol ogy, In sti tute of Fo ren sic Re search). 

2. De scrip tion of events

2.1. Mur der of Violetta L. 

On Feb ru ary 6, 2001 at about 22.00 in Poznañ,
a 17-year-old pros ti tute, Violetta L., was shot in
a rented apart ment. Sev eral other pros ti tutes be long ing 
to the same es cort agency were near her apart ment. All
were be ing watched by body guards. Violetta L.’s ser -
vices were ad ver tised in a lo cal news pa per in the
“Con tacts” col umn with ep i thets such as “beau ti ful
blue-eyed” or “lonely eigh teen-year-old girl”. Two
dif fer ent mo bile phone num bers were given. When the 
ho mi cide was dis cov ered, the body of Violetta L. was
ly ing on its side on the floor in a pool of blood. She was 
wear ing a shiny sleeve less blouse and black pants
(knick ers); next to her legs were high-heeled shoes.
She had been shot twice: in the chest and in the head.
Ac cord ing to ex perts, shots were fired from above, at
close range, but they were not con tact shots. The head
wound was prob a bly in flicted sec ond. There were no
traces of se men in/on her body or next to it. 

It was de ter mined that on the day of the mur der the
vic tim could not have pos sessed more than sev eral
hun dred Pol ish zloty. In her apart ment, there no clear
traces of search ing, yet no money was found ei ther.
There were two mo bile phones in a vis i ble place in the
kitchen. 

2.1.1. Man i fes ta tions of per pe tra tor’s ac tions

Ac cord ing to the case files, at about 14.00 on the
day of the mur der, a cli ent came to Violetta L., whom,
how ever, she did not let in as he looked sus pi cious. In
a de scrip tion given to her girl friend, he was de scribed
as be ing about 40 years old, about 6 feet tall, and with
a limp. He had red dish blond hair and a “large and
prom i nent” mous tache that looked as if it had been
stuck on. On that day, Violetta L. had an ap point ment

with her neigh bour-friends from the agency to go to
a so lar ium af ter 21.00. From the tes ti mony of one of
these friends, it tran spires that at about 21.30–21.40,
Violetta was ready to go, but sud denly changed her
mind. She an swered the phone and said that “a cli ent is 
al ready on his way, in the el e va tor”. Their col leagues
(body guards at the agency) who were wait ing in the
car had, a lit tle ear lier, seen a man with a shoul der bag,
wear ing a leather jacket and glasses, walk ing near the
entrance to the building. 

It may be in ferred that the per pe tra tor ar ranged the
meet ing with his vic tim (as a cli ent) just be fore (the
meet ing) and came just af ter 21.30. Ac cord ing to her
girl friends, Violetta only very rarely ac cepted cli ents
af ter 20.00, for ex am ple, when a cli ent of fered a con -
sid er able amount of money for her ser vices. Most
prob a bly, Violetta L. was un dress ing in a hurry to pre -
pare her self to host her cli ent. Her jacket hang ing on
the door to the room was in dic a tive of this. 

A lack of signs of ac tiv ity by the of fender in the
apart ment in di cated that most prob a bly he shot his vic -
tim soon af ter he en tered the apart ment. Just be fore he
fired, he switched on the TV and turned the vol ume up
to max i mum. This is in di cated by the tes ti mony of her
neigh bour from a lower floor, who said that about
21.00 or soon af ter she sud denly heard very loud mu sic 
and a sin gle short scream of a woman.

Ac cord ing to the fo ren sic med i cal doc tor, the shot
to the chest might have been fired when the vic tim was
kneel ing (how ever, anal y sis of data col lected at the
scene sug gested that the vic tim was rather sit ting on
a small chair), and the sec ond shot to her head was
fired when she was al ready ly ing down. The per pe tra -
tor most prob a bly took some money from the vic tim’s
apart ment and then left the scene in a hurry with out
switch ing off the TV and light. On the walls of the
stair case, small blood stains were found, sug gest ing
that the of fender left us ing the stairs, and not the lift.
He left the build ing un no ticed by body guards sit ting in 
a car. 

2.2. Mur ders of Lena H. and Janusz S.

Fur ther mur ders took place on Feb ru ary 9, 2001 in
Wroc³aw, at about 17.00–18.00. In a rented apart ment, 
2 per sons were shot: 32-year-old pros ti tute Lena H.
from Ukraine, and 25-year-old Janusz S. – her body -
guard and also her part ner. Ac cord ing to the neigh -
bours, Lena H. was a very si lent, non-con fron ta tional
lodger, who kept her home clean and tidy. None of her
neigh bours sus pected her of be ing a pros ti tute. She ad -
ver tised her ser vices in a lo cal pa per un der cap tions
such as “at trac tive Czech girl”, or “small, dark, dis -
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crete”. She pro vided a con tact mo bile phone num ber.
Dur ing the in ves ti ga tion, it was de ter mined that both
vic tims were shot with the same gun with which
Violetta L. had been shot. Both bod ies were found on
the kitchen floor, com pletely dressed, par tially cov -
ered by jack ets. Lena had golden jewel lery on her neck 
and hands. 

Dur ing the post-mor tem it was stated that the cause
of death of Lena was a gun shot wound to her head. The 
vic tim also had four other gun shot wounds, in clud ing
a wound in the right lum bar-hip area, a wound on her
right hand and pen e trat ing bul let wounds of the right
hand and a fin ger of her left hand. Ac cord ing to ex -
perts, these wounds were not caused by con tact shots.
What is more, the corpse also had in ju ries such as abra -
sions and ecchymosis on her neck and in the
infraclavicular area, sug gest ing that the vic tim was
stran gled be fore death. There were also abra sions on the 
hands and mi nor ecchymosis of the mu cous mem brane
of the va gina. Ex perts stated that the head wound was
the last to be in flicted and had “char ac ter is tics of
wounds typ i cal for ex e cu tion vic tims”. Traces of se men
were not found ei ther in/on the body or near it. 

From Janusz S.’s au topsy re cord, it tran spires that he 
was shot three times: in the chest, in the but tocks, and in
the head. More over, four stab wounds were found on
the corpse: one on his neck, one on his stom ach, and two 
on the ab do men, as well as sev eral cut wounds on his
neck of vary ing depth. There were also abra sions on the
left ear, neck, and left knee. The gun shot wound to the
head and the stab wound to the neck were the causes of
death. Ac cord ing to ex perts, the type and dis tri bu tion of
cut wounds of the neck and stab wounds of the stom ach
sug gested that the dead man could have been tor tured
be fore death. The gun shot wound to the head was in -
flicted last and had char ac ter is tics of wounds found in
vic tims of ex e cu tion. The shot gun wounds to the head
were not con tact ones. 

Dur ing in spec tion of the crime scene earprints on
the in side side of the front door were found, and it was
as cer tained that the peep hole was filled with plasti -
cine. The front door was locked, and the key (to the
front door) was found in the apart ment; how ever, the
bal cony door to one of the rooms was open. The lights
and TV were on and a ra dio was play ing. On the room
floor, signs of wip ing blood stains from the floor were
found. There were no signs that the flat had been
searched. In the apart ment, mo bile phones of the vic -
tims were also found, which were switched off at the
time of the crime scene in spec tion. No money was
found. 

2.2.1. Man i fes ta tions of the per pe tra tor’s ac tions

It may be as sumed that the per pe tra tor con tacted
Lena H. by phone and came to her as a cli ent. The com -
pletely dressed corpse of Lena H. does not sug gest she
had fully pre pared her self for “ren der ing ser vices”.
Most prob a bly, the per pe tra tor killed the vic tims
shortly af ter com ing to their flat. The mur der of the
man was com mit ted by shoot ing three bul lets in him
and, more over, the per pe tra tor stabbed him 4 times in
his neck and stom ach, and ad di tion ally in flicted on
him sev eral su per fi cial, cut wounds to the neck, which
were not in flicted to kill, but in or der to mal treat the
vic tim. 

In the case of Lena H., the of fender stran gled her,
but this was not the cause of her death – which was the
re sult of a gun shot wound to her head. It should be de -
duced that in this case the of fender was also sat is fy ing
his sa dis tic needs. This con clu sion is also sup ported by 
the fact that he bru tally shot at the woman, while she
was try ing to shield her self with her hands. 

Ana lys ing the of fender’s be hav iour, one may con -
clude that de spite mur der ing two per sons he was not
un der the in flu ence of strong emo tions dur ing the kill -
ing, or at least they were not caus ing his ac tions to be
dis or ga nised. For traces he left at the crime scene
showed he took fur ther log i cal ac tions, such as: cov er -
ing his tracks on the scene by wip ing blood stains,
mov ing corpses to the kitchen, cov er ing them with
jack ets and mon i tor ing the sit u a tion out side the apart -
ment by lis ten ing by the front door. Anal y sis of item -
ised bills re lat ing to the mo bile phones pos sessed by
the vic tims showed that af ter the mur ders the of fender
stayed for al most twenty four hours in their apart ment.
Dur ing that time he used the vic tims’ phones to tele -
phone peo ple ad ver tis ing in news pa pers that they
wished to buy a car. He fixed a meet ing for the next
day be tween 16.00 and 17.00 in the vic tims’ apart ment 
with at least two peo ple. He pro posed such terms in
spite of the fact that one of these man wanted to be
there ear lier, at least at 15.00. It is dif fi cult to ex plain
this ac tion, be cause from the point of view of his safety 
it would have been more log i cal to leave the scene as
soon as pos si ble. Fi nally, the of fender left the apart -
ment through a win dow be fore he was due to meet the
ap pointed per son, most prob a bly just when one of the
po ten tial cli ents rang the front door bell. Most prob a -
bly, the per pe tra tor took some money from his vic tims’ 
apart ment, since, as the in spec tion re cords show, not
even small change was found there. 
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2.3. The mur der of mar ried cou ple K. 

On March 10, 2001 (Sat ur day) in Wroc³aw in
a block of sev eral flats, in an apart ment on the 2nd

floor, 2 per sons were shot with the same gun: a mar ried 
cou ple con sist ing of 50-year-old Maria K. and
64-year-old Marek K. The vic tims had no con tact with
peo ple from the mar gins of so ci ety. The mar ried cou -
ple pos sessed two apart ments, one of which was rented 
to lodg ers by Maria K. In Jan u ary 2001, she put an ad
in Auto-Gie³da Dolnoœl¹ska con cern ing a flat to rent,
giv ing her home tele phone num ber as a means of con -
tact. 

The body of Maria K., ly ing in the hall, was fully
dressed, with small items of jewel lery still pres ent.
From the au topsy re cord, it tran spired she was shot
6 times, in clud ing one shot pen e trat ing from the neck
to the skull, two shots in the chest (on the left and right
side), one in the lum bar area, and the last two gun shot
wounds on the left and right wrists. These wounds
were not in flicted as con tact shots. More over, she had
abra sions on an ear au ri cle and on the neck. Ac cord ing
to fo ren sic med i cal doc tors, the gun shot wounds on the 
neck and the head had char ac ter is tics of gun shot
wounds found in ex e cu tion vic tims. 

Marek K.’s corpse was found at the en trance to
a room and was also fully dressed. From the au topsy
re cord it tran spired he was shot 4 times, in clud ing one
shot to his head, two in the re gion of his chest, one of
which pen e trated into the ab dom i nal cav ity, and one in 
the left arm, pen e trat ing to the chest. More over,
ecchymoses were found in the area of the thy roid and
the neck mus cles, as well as a frac ture of the hyoid
bone, which might have been the re sult of us ing a blunt 
or blunt-edged tool. Ac cord ing to fo ren sic med i cal
doc tors, these wounds sug gest that the dead man was
ei ther stran gled or hit force fully in the neck. The gun -
shot wounds were not con tact ones. The head wound
was in flicted at the very end, and it also had fea tures
typ i cal of ex e cu tion vic tims. 

The front door was not locked. Gun shot res i due
was found on it. The light was on in the hall, bath room
and in the kitchen. In the room a win dow was open.
The apart ment was gen er ally in good or der, with no
vis i ble traces of search ing. 430 z³ were found in Ma -
rek K.’s wal let. The mo bile phone of Maria K. was
miss ing, as well as her wal let with doc u ments and
cheques. On the ta ble in the room lay rental con tracts,
with only the parts re lat ing to the owners filled out. 

2.3.1. Man i fes ta tions of the per pe tra tor’s ac tions

The facts in di cate that the of fender was a male,
who made an ap point ment with the vic tims with a view 
to rent ing an apart ment. He had ob tained in for ma tion
on the pos si bil ity of rent ing an apart ment from an ad -
ver tise ment in a news pa per. He ar ranged a meet ing on
March 8 (Thurs day) with Marek K. by phone. On that
day, they were not able to en ter the apart ment as the
lock on the front door jammed. They stood to gether
out side the front door for sev eral min utes, while
Marek K. tried un suc cess fully to un lock the door. The
sit u a tion was ob served via a peep hole by their neigh -
bour. Marek K. made a sec ond ap point ment with the
po ten tial lodger for Sat ur day at 11.00. Ear lier, while
talk ing with his fa ther, Marek K. de scribed him as
a man of about 35 years of age, less than 6 feet tall,
slim, with some “de fect of the foot”, which he dragged,
as if it was shorter. This cli ent called them on Sat ur day
 before 11.00. The tele phone was an swered by Ma -
rek K.’s fa ther. The man asked him to pass on a mes -
sage that he could come at 13.00. 

The per pe tra tor must have shot his vic tims shortly
af ter en ter ing their apart ment. Be tween 13.00 and
14.00 neigh bours heard sounds re sem bling scream ing, 
the “cry” of a woman or a child, a bang as if a door had
been slammed, a dull thud as if some thing or some one
had fallen down. In the stair well, it was si lent at that
time. The rental con tracts ly ing on the ta ble were only
filled out par tially, which in di cates that the new lodger 
had not yet pro vided his de tails. The per pe tra tor fired
at least 11 shots. Among the gun shot wounds found on
Maria K. were hand wounds – most prob a bly they
were in flicted when she tried to shield her self. Apart
from shot gun wounds, Marek K. was also hurt in the
re gion of the thy roid and neck mus cles, sug gest ing that 
the of fender was vi o lently stran gling him or hit ting
him force fully in his neck. Sim i lar, but less se vere
wounds were in flicted on Maria K. 

The per pe tra tor took from his vic tims’ apart ment
a wal let with credit cards and doc u ments and a mo bile
phone, but he left no vis i ble traces of hav ing searched
the apart ment or any other ac tiv ity. Most prob a bly he
left the scene soon af ter com mit ting the mur ders. 

3. Re sults of in ves ti ga tion, in for ma tion
con cern ing the sus pect and his state ments 

In March 2001 in Wroc³aw, a car driven at high
speed in the wrong di rec tion (against the traf fic flow)
along a one-way street was stopped. It was driven by
Krzysztof G., who, at the mo ment of ar rest, had 2.72‰ 
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of al co hol in his ex haled air. In side the car, there was
a leather hav er sack, with the butt of a pis tol stick ing
out of it. It was a ma chine pis tol, Scor pion No. 00255,
equipped with a si lencer, and in the mag a zine were
18 rounds of live am mu ni tion. Also found in the car
were glasses in a plas tic case, a tube of glue, and
a news pa per con tain ing ad ver tise ments – Auto-Gie³da
Œl¹ska, with 3 marked of fers of apart ments to let in
Wroc³aw. Ac cord ing to the criminalistics ex pert re -
port, it tran spired that the shells col lected at the scenes
of all five mur ders orig i nated from this gun. How ever,
Krzysztof G. de nied in volve ment in these kill ings. He
claimed he had bought the gun from a Czech, be cause
he was re ceiv ing threat en ing phone calls that if he did
not pay back his debts, he and his fam ily would be
killed. At that time, he had been look ing for a job and,
for that rea son, had trav elled, to, among other places,
Wroc³aw, Poznañ, and Warszawa. 

Dur ing the in ves ti ga tion, many traces were re -
vealed in di cat ing that Krzysztof G. had been in Le -
na H.’s apart ment. Ac cord ing to a mechanoscopic
ex pert re port, it tran spired that a shoe print found on
the car pet in that apart ment might have been a print of
his shoe. More over, blood stains orig i nat ing from Le -
na H.’s body and lumps of clay sim i lar to those found
un der the bal cony win dow of the apart ment were
found on this shoe. Ear prints re vealed on the in side
side of the front door cor re sponded to ear concha of the 
sus pect. A girl friend of Violetta, re cog nised Krzysztof
G. dur ing a dis play as the man with a stuck-on mous -
tache who had endeavoured to pur chase the ser vices of 
the girl. An other pros ti tute tes ti fied that she had pre vi -
ously “seen the sus pect some where”, most prob a bly be -
tween Jan u ary 2 and Feb ru ary 6, 2001, in a nearby shop. 
Violetta L.’s body guards stated that Krzysztof G. re -
sem bled a man seen by them near her block when they
were wait ing for the girl to drive her to the so lar ium. 

Suf fu sions and abra sions of the epi der mis on
Krzysztof G.’s hand, which might have oc curred
a month be fore the ex am i na tion, were di ag nosed dur -
ing a med i cal ex am i na tion. Their dis tri bu tion sug -
gested that the ex am ined per son might have been
tugged on the hand by an other per son. More over,
bruises on his thighs and a haematoma on his left shin
were found, which might have oc curred as a re sult of
a kick or jump ing from a height, and a state af ter in jury 
of the right an kle bone that oc curred a year or two be -
fore ex am i na tion was also as cer tained. In the opin ion
of the ex perts, the in ju ries of the lower limbs caused
a vis i ble al ter nat ing limp ing, with pre dom i nance of
right leg limp ing. 

36-year-old Krzysztof G. was mar ried and had
a 14-year-old daugh ter. Ac cord ing to the fam ily, he

was a good hus band and fa ther, with no ad dic tions;
among his qual i ties were tran quil lity and po lite ness
(kind ness). He was a qual i fied driver-me chanic. Un til
1994, he had worked in a mine, from where he was
made re dun dant be cause of group re dun dan cies. He
re ceived 3,000 z³ of sev er ance pay, which en abled him 
to set up his own firm deal ing with, among other
things, (build ing) tim ber trad ing. From 1999, the firm
be gan to have fi nan cial prob lems: Krzysztof G. owed
var i ous col lab o ra tors over 100,000 z³ in to tal, and at
the same time he was not able to col lect debts from un -
re li able cli ents. He tried to get back the debts, threat en -
ing debt ors that he would kill a mem ber of their fam ily. 
Be cause of the ex tor tions, he was ar rested and im pris -
oned from June 2000 to Jan u ary 2001. He was re leased 
on bail paid by his wife. 

In No vem ber 2001, Krzysztof G. con fessed to
com mit ting all five of the mur ders he had been ac cused 
of. Ac cord ing to his state ments, dur ing his stay in jail
he had planned that he would earn money by “col lect -
ing ar rears”. He con tacted an ac quain tance from
Gdañsk, who had al ready once ar ranged a fire arm for
him. This ac quain tance of fered Krzysztof G. 20,000 z³
to carry out a mur der. He pro vided him with the ad -
dresses and phone num bers of sev eral es cort agen cies
in the area of Poznañ, be long ing to one owner and in -
structed him to kill any one from among per sons work -
ing there, he also gave him a Skorpion ma chine pis tol.
Krzysztof G. ar ranged a meet ing with one of the girls
from the agency by phone. When he en tered the apart -
ment he found that the girl was alone. He asked if he
could use the toi let and there he pre pared the gun and
at tached the si lencer. Im me di ately af ter leav ing the
bath room, he shot the girl, who was sit ting on a low
chair, first in her chest, and then in the head. Af ter -
wards he left the apart ment in a hurry. Af ter sev eral
days he phoned his ac quain tance from Gdañsk, in -
form ing him that he had done the job, but the ac quain -
tance de layed pay ing him. So Krzysztof G. de cided to
keep the gun un til he was paid. He was not able to ex -
plain why he did not make con sis tent ef forts to ob tain
the pay ment. 

Dur ing the in ves ti ga tion it was de ter mined that im -
me di ately af ter this mur der, Krzysztof G. trav elled by
train to Kalisz, where he stayed un til 16.00 on the fol -
low ing day. He was not able to ex plain what he did in
that pe riod of time. It was es tab lished that he phoned
sev eral es cort agen cies and also his wife. Next, he
went by train to Wa³brzych. He did not buy a ticket, as
he claimed that he had no money, and he re ceived
a fine for this of fence. 

From fur ther state ments by Krzysztof G. it tran -
spired that, in con nec tion with his lack of money he
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had de cided to carry out a plan that he had drawn up
while in jail. The plan en tailed meet ing a pros ti tute
from an es cort agency and shoot ing her and then us ing
her apart ment to lure peo ple in ter ested in buy ing a car.
He planned to make a very at trac tive of fer to these
peo ple by phone con cern ing sale of a car, so that on the 
next day they would un doubt edly come with money to
buy it. Krzysztof G. stated that he had not in tended to
kill the po ten tial cli ents, but only to threaten them with 
the gun, to take money from them, tie them up and then 
leave them at the scene of the pros ti tute’s mur der. In
or der to real ise his plan, he bought some lo cal
Wroclaw news pa pers car ry ing ad ver tise ments, con -
tacted a pros ti tute by phone and ar ranged to meet her
as a cli ent. He asked her if he could use the toi let, and
there he at tached the si lencer to the pis tol. Af ter leav -
ing the toi let, he real ised there was a man in the
kitchen, so first he shot him sev eral times. Then he
started to shoot the woman, who was just leav ing the
room. Af ter that he came back to the kitchen and
slashed the throat of the man, who was “still rasp ing”.
Next he moved the woman’s body to the kitchen and
cov ered both corpses with jack ets. He washed away
the blood stains in the other rooms and af ter that, us ing
the mo bile phones of his vic tims, he ar ranged meet ings 
with a few cli ents who ad ver tised in a news pa per that
they were look ing for a cer tain type of a car. From
Krysztof G’s state ments, it tran spires that he spent the
night in the vic tims’ apart ment, go ing out only once to
buy a beer. On the next day, some body knocked at the
front door sev eral times. He then judged that the sit u a -
tion was dan ger ous, so he did not wait for the ap -
pointed cli ents any more, but around noon jumped
from the bal cony and im me di ately drove away. Ac -
cord ing to the tes ti mo nies of the men, who on Feb ru -
ary 10 came to buy cars, it tran spires, how ever, that at
about 15.30 they saw a man near the block, whom they
re cog nised from pho tos as Krzysztof G. 

Krzysztof G.’s state ments were also in con sis tent
with other facts that were de ter mined dur ing the in ves -
ti ga tion. He com pletely omit ted the stran gu la tion of
Lena H. and the stab bing in the ab do men and stom ach
of Janusz S. The sus pect ex plained the cut wounds to
the neck of the vic tim as be ing the re sult of a need to
fin ish off the “wheez ing” man, al though Janusz S. died 
as a re sult of a shot to the head. Krzysztof G. did not
men tion the ad di tional wounds in flicted on the mar -
ried cou ple K ei ther. 

From fur ther state ments by Krzysztof G. it tran -
spired that af ter the mur der of Lena H. and Marek S.,
he de cided not to use an es cort agency any more, but to 
rent an apart ment, to which cli ents in ter ested in buy ing 
an al leged car would be in vited. Af ter se lect ing an ap -

pro pri ate of fer, he made an ap point ment with the
apart ment’s owner. In the apart ment, he met a man and 
a woman. They ex pected to be paid 6 months rent in
ad vance, whilst he only wanted to pay for one month.
He said he be came an gry and was forced to kill them,
al though at the be gin ning he had not planned it. Af ter
the mur der, he left the apart ment hast ily, de spite the
fact that cli ents had ar ranged to come very soon af ter -
wards with money. He stated he was afraid that the
sound of shoot ing might have been heard by neigh -
bours, be cause dur ing the event a win dow in the room
was open. 

Dur ing the course of the in ves ti ga tion, it was de ter -
mined that Krzysztof G. had in tended to an swer a few
more ad ver tise ments re lat ing to apart ment rental. He
had also al ready made ap point ments with peo ple in ter -
ested in buy ing cars. Dur ing suc ces sive in ter views,
Krzysztof G. de nied these es tab lished facts, and then
a num ber of times he changed his state ments, say ing,
among other things, that the mur ders were com mit ted
by some one else, and he only ac com pa nied the mur -
derer; and in other ver sions he also in di cated the co op -
er a tion of var i ous peo ple. 

4. In ter pre ta tion and con clu sions

In or der to at tempt to an swer the ques tion posed by
the pros e cu tion, it was most im por tant to com pare the
mo dus ope randi of the of fender (or of fend ers) in all the 
mur ders. More over, it was nec es sary to di ag nose the
mo ti va tion that drove the of fender (or of fend ers). One
of the most im por tant sources al low ing us to draw in -
fer ences on this mat ter was an anal y sis of state ments
given by Krzysztof G. 

From the anal y sis of Krzysztof G’s state ments, it
tran spired that his ac tions al ways had two stages: the
first, em brac ing prep a ra tion of a mur der and its com -
mis sion, and the sec ond stage, em brac ing reali sa tion
of the aim which the mur ders fa cil i tated. This aim was
to gain fi nan cial ben e fits, stem ming from pay ment for
car ry ing out the mur der or from rob bing other vic tims. 

Ac cord ing to Krzysztof G’s state ments, in the first
case he car ried out a con tract kill ing, and in the other
cases, he real ised his own idea of gain ing money from
per sons lured by the pos si bil ity of buy ing a good car at
an at trac tive price. This eco nomic aim was thus in -
tended to be the most im por tant for the of fender, the
mur der it self be ing only a “pre lim i nary stage”, pre par -
ing for reali sa tion of the main one. It is worth not ing
that this “pre lim i nary stage” was planned in de tail by
Krzysztof G., tak ing into ac count pos si ble hitches and
changes. Tak ing into con sid er ation the ef fec tive ness
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of his ac tions, this stage in all cases was very suc cess -
ful and ef fi cient, and led to the death of 5 peo ple. The
of fender be gan by se lect ing var i ous of fers from among 
ad ver tise ments pub lished in news pa pers, then he made 
con tact by phone and found out the ad dresses. Af ter
siz ing up the sit u a tion at each given apart ment, he
went to the bath room un der some pre text, where he
pre pared his weapon (among other things he at tached
the si lencer). When he left the bath room, he switched
on the TV and fired pre cisely, first in the chest, then in
the head. It is worth not ing that in two cases he suc cess -
fully con trolled the be hav iour of two vic tims. Af ter the
mur ders he de cided on how to leave the scene safely. 

The strong ten dency to com mit mur ders de spite
a num ber of ob jec tive ob sta cles and a high risk of fail -
ure is re mark able. For in stance, in the case of the mur -
der of Violetta L., the per pe tra tor did not change his
mind even though he had been seen by out side wit -
nesses when he had pre vi ously been near the scene.
De spite the fact that on the day of the mur der, Violet -
ta L. had turned him down when he tried to en ter her
apart ment in dis guise, he did not change his mind and
in the eve ning came again to her apart ment. In the case
of Lena H.’s mur der, he did not give up in spite of the
dif fi culty posed by the pres ence of Janusz S. He then
killed two per sons, even though it sig nif i cantly in -
creased the risk. In the case of the mur ders of Maria
and Marek K., ear lier con tact not only with his vic tims, 
but also with their rel a tives, ex posed him to the risk of
be ing re cog nised by the lat ter. More over, he shot his
vic tims a num ber of times de spite the open win dow.
The above cir cum stances (facts) show that the of -
fender acted in a sit u a tion of high risk, which sug gests
he had a strong mo ti va tion to kill his vic tims. 

From the point of view of the ef fec tive ness of the
ac tions of the mur derer, the ad di tional wounds in -
flicted on the four vic tims were pur pose less. The aim
of kill ing the vic tims was not di rectly ful filled by these 
ad di tional wounds, since it was de ter mined that all the
vic tims were killed by “ex e cu tion” shots to the head
(which con sti tuted the last wounds). Fur ther more, they 
had no con nec tion with the plan to ob tain money from
the cli ents he had ar ranged to meet. None the less, these
wounds were in flicted. One can de duce there fore that
these ac tions re sulted from a dif fer ent mo ti va tion –
that of sa dism – and not that de clared by Krzysztof G. –
eco nomic mo ti va tion. This can be es pe cially clearly
seen in the case of the su per fi cial knife cuts on the neck 
of Janusz S., which were in flicted af ter shoot ing the
vic tim twice (so the vic tim was im mo bile), and be fore
the third, fa tal shot. One may also in fer that in the case
of the mur der of mar ried cou ple K., the of fender was

also ful fill ing his sa dis tic needs by in flict ing ad di -
tional wounds on them. 

Anal y sis of the data shows that the stated aim of ac -
tions given by Krzysztof G. – gain ing fi nan cial ben e fit
from mur ders – was not real ised in any of the above
cases. From Krzysztof G.’s state ments, it tran spires
that af ter com mit ting the mur ders he be came dis cour -
aged by even in sig nif i cant signs that he might be
caught. For ex am ple, af ter the mur der of Lena H. and
Janusz S., he es caped through a win dow af ter hear ing
knock ing on the front door and never came back to that 
apart ment, al though he most prob a bly stayed in the
neigh bour hood for some time and could have worked
out that no body had en tered the apart ment. Nei ther did 
he use the mur ders of Marek and Maria K. to real ise
the aims (of fi nan cial gain) linked to them, al though he 
could have worked out that the noise cre ated by the
event had not alarmed the neigh bours. If one as sumes
that the first mur der was a con tract kill ing, as Krzysz -
tof G. claimed, then in this case as well, the lack of
con sis tency in his endeavours to get paid for the ful -
filled con tract is sig nif i cant. 

The state ments of Krzysztof G. on the sub ject of
the above facts also do not ex plain his lack of ef fec -
tive ness in endeavouring to achieve prof its from the
com mit ted mur ders. One may de duce that the mur der
of the vic tims it self was the main aim of the of fender,
and the other aims were only a pre text to ful fil his sa -
dis tic needs. His sa dism, ruth less ness, and bru tal ity in
the treat ment of vic tims – which were in con sis tent
both with his plan and its reali sa tion as pre sented by
Krzysztof G. – are note wor thy. At the same time, how -
ever, he de voted a lot of en ergy to the al leged fi nan cial
aim (i.e. ap point ments with peo ple to sell them cars).
It is thus pos si ble that they con sti tuted a form of “jus ti -
fy ing him self”. 

Anal y sis of the cir cum stances of the mur ders
shows that the sa dism in the of fender’s be hav iour may
be linked with his dis or ders in the area of drives [2, 4,
5, 8, 11]. Ad mit tedly, most prob a bly there was no sex -
ual in ter course be tween Krzysztof G. and his vic tims,
but other, more in di rect con nec tions be tween mur der
and the drives sphere are pos si ble. This is sug gested by 
the choice of es cort agen cies and pros ti tutes as vic -
tims, which could not be jus ti fied from the point of
view of reali sa tion of plans to lure other vic tims there.
Pre dict ing that af ter a mur der one may stay there lon -
ger is il log i cal, for these are places where strang ers
may turn up at any mo ment (other pros ti tutes, cli ents,
body guards, own ers of the agency or of the apart ment,
chance wit nesses etc.). More over, it is not in sig nif i -
cant that Krzysztof G., af ter kill ing Violetta L. – as he
put it, af ter ful fill ing the con tract – did not go back
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home di rectly, but spent sev eral hours in Kalisz, where 
he phoned sev eral dif fer ent es cort agen cies. 

One may ob serve some changes in the of fender’s
mo dus ope randi, when com par ing his be hav iour in
par tic u lar cases. The link ing of mur ders of vic tims
with lur ing of cli ents to be cheated be came more ef fi -
cient, e.g. by mak ing ap point ments with them at in -
creas ingly early times, so as to fin ish ev ery thing dur-
ing the same day. Grad u ally, he even started to make
ap point ments with cli ents in apart ments, where he had
only made plans to kill res i dents (but not yet car ried
them out), most prob a bly to limit the pos si bil ity of ad -
di tional ob sta cles/hin drances and to re duce the risk.
It is pos si ble he gave up dis guis ing him self (mous -
tache, glasses) when he real ised it hin dered mak ing
con tact with peo ple. 

It is note wor thy that in suc ces sive mur ders, the
num ber of shots fired at par tic u lar vic tims in creased:
from two – in the case of Violetta L., to six – in the case 
of Maria K. In suc ces sive mur ders, signs of sa dis tic be -
hav iour ap peared as well. Their in ten sity was great est
to wards vic tims in the sec ond case (stran gling of Lena
H. and cut and stab wounds in flicted with a knife on
Janusz S.). When tak ing into ac count the victimo -
logical data, the ag gra vated ag gres sion to wards
Janusz S. can not be ex plained by pro voc a tive be hav -
iour of the vic tim. A pos si ble in ter pre ta tion of the of -
fender’s be hav iour in this case is the hy poth e sis that he 
did not achieve a sat is fac tory re lease of ten sion af ter
the mur der of Violetta L., so a short time later (three
days later!) he at tacked an other vic tim with sig nif i -
cantly more bru tal ity. In the third case, the of fender
was also not sat is fied with le thally shoot ing his vic -
tims and so, be fore shoot ing them, he most prob a bly
ad di tion ally stran gled his vic tims. The changes and
mod i fi ca tions of be hav iour in par tic u lar mur ders de -
scribed above, and es pe cially ag gra va tion of sa dis tic
be hav iours are typ i cal of the mo dus ope randi of se rial
kill ers. 

In the con clu sions in their ex pert re port, the fo ren -
sic psy chol o gists stated that it may be as sumed with
high prob a bil ity that the mur ders of Violetta L., Le -
na H., Janusz S., Maria K., and Marek K. were com -
mit ted by the same of fender. In the ac tions of the
mur derer, the fol low ing el e ments oc curred re peat edly:
– he found in for ma tion on vic tims from ad ver tise -

ments in news pa pers, con tacted them by tele phone
as a cli ent, and then es tab lished the place (ad dress)
and time of meet ing; 

– vic tims lived in blocks of flats; 
– choos ing pros ti tutes as vic tims, he most prob a bly

did not ben e fit from their ser vices;

– all vic tims were killed with gun shots fired from the
same fire arm – a “Skorpion” ma chine pis tol
equipped with a si lencer; 

– all shots were fired from a small dis tance, but none
was a con tact shot;

– each vic tim was shot in his/her chest at least once,
and the last wound in all vic tims was a le thal shot to 
the head typ i cal of ex e cu tions;

– ad di tional wounds – apart from gun shot wounds –
di ag nosed in vic tims were mostly con cen trated in
the area of the neck;

– the of fender in flicted ad di tional wounds on both
male vic tims; 

– in sit u a tions where vic tims shielded them selves
with their hands, the of fender shot through the
hands; 

– he did not un dress any of the vic tims, nor did he
take away their jewel lery;

– the of fender did not leave traces in any of the cases
sug gest ing that he searched apart ments, and at the
same time in each case he most prob a bly took
money or other ob jects be long ing to vic tims (mo -
bile phone, wal let with credit cards);

– in the course of com mit ting ho mi cides, au dio
equip ment was switched on; the of fender did not
switch it off be fore leav ing the scene, he also left
lights on; 

– in all cases of mur ders, the of fender man i fested
greater mo ti va tion to kill vic tims than to gain the
planned eco nomic ben e fits; 

– the per pe tra tor of all the mur ders man i fested psy -
cho pathic per son al ity traits, char ac ter ised by: ruth -
less ness and bru tal ity in treat ing vic tims, emo tional 
cold ness, treat ing of vic tims as ob jects. His be hav -
iour did not be come dis or ga nised un der the in flu -
ence of emo tions. Clear el e ments of sa dism were
man i fested in his be hav iour; 

– the of fender’s be hav iour was typ i cal of the way of
act ing of se rial kill ers. 
A few months later an other psy cho log i cal ex pert

opin ion was pre pared in this case. The pros e cu tion
asked that a psy cho log i cal ex am i na tion of the sus pect
Krzysztof G. be con ducted in or der to pro nounce on
his per son al ity traits and the mo ti va tion that drove him 
when he com mit ted the deeds (he was ac cused of). The 
con ducted ex am i na tion con firmed, among other
things, that the sus pect pos sessed strong sa dis tic ten -
den cies. How ever, the ex am ined sus pect de nied be ing
re spon si ble for these acts. How ever, dur ing the trial,
the de fen dant Krzysztof G. changed his mind and con -
fessed to all the mur ders. He stated he also felt sat is fac -
tion while mur der ing, and mal treat ment of vic tims
gave him spe cial plea sure. 
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Krzysztof G. re ceived a life sen tence on the ba sis of 
a le gally valid ver dict, with the pos si bil ity of pa role
not ear lier than af ter 50 years. 

Ref er ences

1. Can ter D., Alison L., Pro fil ing in pol icy and prac tice, [in:] 

Of fender pro fil ing se ries, vol. II, Ashgate-Dartmouth,

Aldershot 1999.
2. Fromm E., Rewizja psychoanalizy, PWN, Warszawa

1998.
3. Geberth V. J., Sex-re lated ho mi cide and death in ves ti ga -

tion, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Lon don 2003.
4. Gierowski J. K., Szaszkiewicz M., Osobowoœæ i moty -

wacja sprawców zabójstw, [w:] Zabójcy i ich ofiary,

Gierowski J. K., Jaœkiewicz-Obydziñska T. [red.], Wy -

dawnictwo Instytutu Ekspertyz S¹dowych, Kraków

2002.
5. Hanausek T., Anna – czêœæ 1, [w:] Zabójstwa seksualne –

problemy teoretyczne, Wydawnictwo MSW, Warszawa

1980.
6. Jaœkiewicz-Obydziñska T., Wach E., Znaczenie infor -

macji o ofierze zabójstwa dla sporz¹dzania psycholo -

gicznego profilu sprawcy, Nowiny Psychologiczne 1999,

4, 23–29.
7. Jaœkiewicz-Obydziñska T., Wach E., Szaszkiewicz M.,

Psy cho log i cal in di ca tors for the pre dict ing of sex ual se -

rial ho mi cides, [in:] Fo ren sic psy chol ogy and law, Czere -

derecka A., Jaœkiewicz-Obydziñska T., Wójcikiewicz J.

[eds.], Wydawnictwo Instytutu Ekspertyz S¹dowych,

Kraków 2004.
8. Leszczyñski J., Zabójstwa na tle seksualnym w Polsce,

Wydawnictwo Prawnicze, Warszawa 1992. 
9. Leyton E., Se rial mur der, Ashgate-Dartmouth, Aldershot

2000.
10. Ressler R., Crim i nal per son al ity pro fil ing, Prob lems of

Fo ren sic Sci ences 1997, 35, 19–30.
11. Ressler R. K., Bur gess A. W., Douglas J. E., Sex ual ho mi -

cide pat terns and mo tives, Lexington Books, New York

1998.
12. Szaszkiewicz M., Model opracowywania charakterystyki 

psychofizycznej nieznanego sprawcy zabójstwa, [w:] Za -

bójcy i ich ofiary, Gierowski J. K., Jaœkiewicz-Oby -

dziñska T. [red.], Wydawnictwo Instytutu Ekspertyz S¹ -

dowych, Kraków 2002.
13. Tur vey Brent E., Crim i nal pro fil ing, Ac a demic Press, San 

Diego 1999. 

Prob lems of Fo ren sic Sci ences 2005, LXIV, 401–416

Psychological analysis of the actions and motivation of an offender... 409

Cor re spond ing au thor

Ewa Wach
Instytut Ekspertyz S¹dowych
ul. Westerplatte 9
PL 31-033 Kraków
e-mail: ewach@ies.krakow.pl



1. Wstêp. Przyczyny powo³ania bieg³ych
psychologów

Jed nym z g³ówn ych zad añ psy chol ogii œle dczej jest
pro fil owa nie psy chol ogi czne, czy li wnio skow anie o ce -
chach nie znan ego spraw cy przes têpstwa na pod staw ie
anal izy do kon ane go przez nie go czy nu [1, 10, 13]. Anal i -
za i in terp reta cja da nych wik tym olo gic znych, prz eja wów 
za chow ania spraw cy na miej scu zda rzen ia, lo kal iza cji
oraz cza su do kon ania czy nu po zwala na oprac owa nie
syl wetki psy chof izy cznej nie znan ego spraw cy, czy li tzw. 
pro filu. Wy niki pra cy osoby „pro fil uj¹cej” s³u¿¹  zazwy -
czaj za wê¿e niu kr êgu po dejr zany ch, a ta k¿e wska zan iu
dal szych kie runków œle dztwa. Pro fil taki oprac owu je siê
wiêc w sy tua cji, kie dy nie ustal ono osoby po dejr zanej
o do kon anie czy nu lub œle dztwo nie to czy siê prze ciwko
kon kretn ej osob ie [4, 12]. Mo¿l iwe jest tak¿e, aby na
pod staw ie psy chol ogi cznej anal izy se rii cz ynów po pe³-
 nio nych przez nie znan ego spr awcê (sprawców) wypo -
wiedzieæ siê, czy wszyst kie zo sta³y do kon ane przez jedn¹ 
i tê sam¹ osobê, czy te¿ mamy do czy nien ia z prz estê pcz¹
 dzia³alnoœci¹ ró¿ nych osób [3, 7, 9]. W ta kich  przypad -
kach mo¿e my mieæ do czy nien ia z po dejr zanym, kt óremu 
bez wi êksz ych w¹tp liwo œci da siê przypisaæ dokonanie
pewnych czynów, ale brak jest danych jednoznacznie
wskazuj¹cych, ¿e by³ on równie¿ sprawc¹ pozosta³ych. 

Przytoczony poni¿ej przypadek dotyczy w³aœnie
takiej sytuacji. Problem, jaki postawi³ przed bieg³ymi
prokurator, polega³ na rozwa¿eniu, czy na podstawie
psychologicznej interpretacji œladów i przejawów za cho -
w ania sprawcy w trzech ró¿nych zdarzeniach (zabójstwa
5 osób) mo¿na stwierdziæ, ¿e pope³ni³a je jedna i ta sama
osoba. 

Œledztwo toczy³o siê przeciwko podejrzanemu
Krzysz to fowi G. Pewne cechy psychofizyczne  podej -
rzanego odpowiada³y œladom ujawnionym w drugim zda -
rzen iu. W czasie przes³uchania Krzysztof G. zaprzecza³
jednak dokonaniu zabójstw, wielokrotnie zmienia³  wy -
jaœ nienia, jeden raz siê nawet przyzna³ do dokonania
czynów, jednak ostatecznie zaprzeczy³, aby mia³ z nimi
zwi¹zek. Poni¿ej opisano zdarzenia w kolejnoœci chro -
nol ogi cznej (nale¿y zaznaczyæ, ¿e by³a to pierwsza
ekspertyza w tym zakresie opracowana przez bieg³ych
w Zak³adzie Psychologii S¹dowej Instytutu Ekspertyz
S¹dowych).

2. Opis zdarzeñ

2.1. Zabójstwo Vio letty L.

W dniu 6 lutego 2001 r. oko³o godziny 22.00 w Po z -
nan iu w wynajêtym mieszkaniu zosta³a zastrzelona
17-letnia prostytutka Violetta L. Obok jej mieszkania
znajdowa³o siê kilka innych nale¿¹cych do jednej agencji 
towarzyskiej. Wszystkie obserwowali ochroniarze. In -
form acje o us³ugach Violetty L. umieszczane by³y w lo -
kaln ej gazecie w ru bryce „Kon takty” i opatrzone tytu³ami 
„pr zeœl iczna niebieskooka” lub „sama osiemnastolatka”.
Podawano dwa ró¿ne numery telefonów komórkowych.
Kiedy odkryto zabójstwo, zw³oki Violetty le¿a³y na pod -
³odze, na boku, w ka³u¿y krwi. By³y ubrane w b³yszcz¹c¹
bluzkê bez rêkawów i czarne majtki, obok nóg ofiary
znajdowa³y siê buty na wysokim obcasie. Zadano jej
dwie rany postrza³owe: w klatkê piersiow¹ i w g³owê.
Wed³ug bieg³ych, strza³y zosta³y zadane z góry, z bliskiej
odleg³oœci, ale nie z przy³o¿enia. Rana g³owy naj prawd o -
po dob niej zosta³a zadana jako druga w kolejnoœci. Nie
stwierdzono œladów nasienia w jej ciele ani przy nim. 

Ustal ono, ¿e w dniu zabój stwa ofiara mog³a mieæ
najwy ¿ej kil kas et z³otych. W miesz kan iu ofiary nie
stwier dzono wyraŸn ych œladów pe net racji, ch oci a¿ nie
zna lez iono ¿ad nych pie niê dzy. Na wi doczn ym miej scu
w kuchni znaj dowa³y siê dwa te lef ony ko mór kowe ofiary. 

2.1.1. Prze jawy dzia³ania spraw cy

Z akt sprawy wynika³o, ¿e w dniu zabójstwa, oko³o
godz. 14.00, do Violetty L. zg³osi³ siê klient, którego
jednak nie przyjê³a, gdy¿ wygl¹da³ podejrzanie. Wed³ug
opisu podanego kole¿ance, by³ w wieku oko³o 40 lat,
wzrostu oko³o 180 cm, utyka³ na jedn¹ nogê. Mia³ on
rudawoblond w³osy oraz w¹sy, które sprawia³y wra¿enie
przy klej ony ch: „du¿e i stercz¹ce”. Tego dnia Violetta L.
by³a umówiona z kole¿ankami-s¹siadkami z agencji, ¿e
po godzinie 21.00 pójd¹ razem do solarium. Z zeznañ
jednej z nich wynika³o, ¿e oko³o godziny 21.30–21.40
Violetta by³a ju¿ gotowa do wyjœcia, lecz nagle zmieni³a
decyzjê. Odebra³a telefon i stwierdzi³a, ¿e „klient ju¿
jedzie do niej wind¹”. Oczekuj¹cy w samochodzie  kole -
dzy (ochroniarze agencji) nieco wczeœniej widzieli
mê¿czyznê z raportówk¹ w skórzanej kurtce i okularach
chodz¹cego w pobli¿u bramy bloku. 

Mo ¿na wn ios kowaæ, ¿e spraw ca umówi³ siê z ofiar¹
jako klient bezpoœrednio przed spo tkan iem i przy szed³ do 
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niej tu¿ po go dzin ie 21.30. Zda niem kol e¿anek, Vio letta
tyl ko wyj¹tkowo przyj mowa³a klien tów po go dzin ie
20.00, np. je ¿eli klient za ofer owa³ za us³ugi znacz nie
wiêksz¹ kwotê. Praw dop odo bnie Vio letta L. w po œpi e -
chu roz biera³a siê w celu przy got owa nia siê do przy jêc ia
klien ta. Su ger owa³a to kurtka wisz¹ca na drzwiach
pokoju.

Brak œla dów akt ywnoœci spraw cy w miesz kan iu wska -
zywa³, ¿e naj prawd opo dob niej strze la³ do ofiary wkrót ce po 
wejœc iu do miesz kan ia. Tu¿ przed od dan iem strza³ów
jesz cze w³¹czy³ te lew izor i na stawi³  maksy malnie jego
re gul ator g³oœ noœ ci. Wska zuj¹ na to ze znan ia s¹siad ki
z do³u, która poda³a, ¿e oko³o go dziny 21.00 lub tu¿ po
niej, us³ysza³a na gle z góry bar dzo g³oœn¹ muz ykê oraz
jeden krótki krzyk kobiety.

Wed³ug opinii lekarza s¹dowego, strza³ w piersi móg³ 
byæ oddany wówczas, kiedy ofiara znajdowa³a siê w po -
zyc ji klêcz¹cej (analiza danych z miejsca zdarzenia
wskazywa³a jednak, i¿ ofiara siedzia³a raczej na niskim
krzese³ku), drugi w g³owê, gdy ju¿ le¿a³a. Praw do p odo b -
nie sprawca zabra³ jakieœ pieni¹dze z mieszkania ofiary,
po czym pospiesznie opuœci³ miejsce zdarzenia nie wy³¹ -
czaj¹c telewizora, nie gasz¹c te¿ œwiat³a. Na œcianie klat -
ki schodowej znaleziono niewielkie œlady krwi su ger u -
j¹ce, ¿e sprawca oddali³ siê po scho dach, nie korzystaj¹c
z win dy. Jego wyjœcia z budynku nie zauwa¿yli siedz¹cy
w samochodzie ochroniarze agencji. 

2.2. Zabó jst wa Leny H. i Ja nus za S.

Ko lejne za bójs twa mia³y miej sce w dniu 9 lu tego
2001 r. we Wroc³awiu oko³o go dziny 17.00–18.00.
W wy najm owa nym miesz kan iu zo sta³y za strzel one 2 oso -
by: 32-let nia pro styt utka Lena H. nar odow oœci ukr aiñs kiej
oraz 25-let ni Ja nusz S. – jej ochron iarz, a za raz em part -
ner. W opin ii s¹siad ów Lena H. by³a bar dzo spo kojn¹
i nie konf liktow¹ lo kat ork¹, utrzym uj¹c¹ porz¹dek i czys-
 toœæ w domu. Nikt z s¹siadów nie domyœla³ siê, ¿e zaj -
muje siê ona pro styt ucj¹. Re klam owa³a swo je us³ugi
w ga zec ie lo kaln ej jako „atrakc yjna Cze szka” lub „ma³a,
czar na, dys kretna”. Do kontaktu podawa³a numer  tele -
fonu komórkowego. 

W toku œledztwa ustalono, ¿e obie ofiary zginê³y z tej
samej broni, co Violetta L. Obydwa cia³a znaleziono na
pod³odze w kuchni, ubrane kompletnie, czêœciowo
przykryte kurtkami. Lena mia³a na szyi i rêkach z³ot¹
bi¿uteriê. 

W trakcie sekcji zw³ok stwierdzono, ¿e przyczyn¹
zgonu Leny by³a rana postrza³owa g³owy. Ofiara mia³a
te¿ cztery inne rany zadane strza³ami z broni palnej,
w tym ranê w prawej okolicy lêdŸwiowo-biodrowej, ranê
prawej rêki oraz rany przestrza³owe prawej rêki i palca
rêki lewej. Zdaniem bieg³ych, rany postrza³owe nie by³y
zadane z przy³o¿enia. Ponadto u denatki stwierdzono
obra¿enia w postaci otarcia naskórka i podbiegniêcia

krwawe na szyi oraz w okolicy podobojczykowej, wska -
zu j¹ce, ¿e ofiara by³a duszona na krótko przed œmierci¹
a tak¿e otarc ia naskórka na rêkach i sk¹pe podbiegniêcia
krwawe œluzówki pochwy. Biegli stwierdzili, ¿e rana
g³owy de natki by³a zadana jako ostatnia i mia³a „ce chy
ran  spo ty ka nych u ofiar egzekucji”. W jej ciele, ani
w okol icy zw³ok, nie stwierdzono obecnoœci œladów na -
sien ia. 

Z protoko³u sekcji zw³ok Janusza S. wynika³o, ¿e
zadano mu trzy rany z broni palnej: w klatkê piersiow¹,
w poœl adek i w g³owê. Ponadto u denata stwierdzono
cztery rany k³ute: po jednej na szyi i na brzuchu oraz dwie 
na podbrzuszu, a tak¿e kilka ran ciêtych szyi o ró¿nej
g³êbokoœci. Stwierdzono równie¿ otarcia naskórka na
lewym uchu, szyi i lewym kolanie. Przyczyn¹ œmierci
by³a rana postrza³owa g³owy oraz rana k³uta szyi. Zda -
niem bieg³ych, charakter i rozmieszczenie ran ciêtych
szyi oraz ran k³utych brzucha sugerowa³, ¿e denat móg³
byæ torturowany przed œmierci¹. Rana postrza³owa g³owy 
zosta³a zadana jako ostatnia i mia³a cechy ran  spo tyka -
nych u ofiar egzekucji. Rany postrza³owe nie by³y zadane 
z przy³o¿enia. 

W trakcie oglêdzin miejsca zdarzenia stwierdzono na
drzwiach wejœciowych od wewn¹trz œlady ma³¿owiny
usznej oraz ¿e wizjer zalepiono plastelin¹. Drzwi  wejœ -
ciowe by³y zamkniête na klucz, który znajdowa³ siê
w miesz kan iu, natomiast drzwi balkonowe w pokoju by³y 
otwarte. Pali³y siê œwiat³a, w³¹czony by³ telewizor, gra³o
radio. Na pod³odze pokoju stwierdzono œlady wycierania
krwi. Brak by³o œladów wskazuj¹cych na penetracjê
miesz kan ia. W mieszkaniu znajdowa³y siê te¿ telefony
komórkowe ofiar, które w chwili oglêdzin by³y wy³¹ -
czo ne. Nie znaleziono ¿adnych pieniêdzy. 

2.2.1. Prze jawy dzia³ania spraw cy

Mo¿na przyj¹æ, ¿e sprawca skontaktowa³ siê z Le -
n¹ H. telefonicznie i zjawi³ siê u niej jako jej klient.
Wygl¹d zw³ok Leny H., ca³kowicie ubranych, nie wska -
zywa³ na bezpoœrednie podjêcie przez ni¹ przygotowañ
do wykonania us³ugi. Prawdopodobnie sprawca zabi³
ofia ry wkrótce po przybyciu do ich mieszkania. Za bój -
stwa mê¿ c zyz ny dokona³ przez postrzelenie go trzema
pociskami, ponadto zada³ mu 4 rany k³ute szyi i brzucha
oraz kilka p³ytkich, ciêtych ran szyi, które nie s³u¿y³y
jego  uœmier ceniu, lecz wskazywa³y na znêcanie siê nad
ofiar¹. 

W przypadku Leny H. sprawca dusi³ j¹, jednak w ten
sposób nie spowodowa³ jej œmierci, lecz zabi³ strza³em
w g³owê. Nale¿y wnioskowaæ, ¿e i przy tej ofierze  reali -
zo wa³ potrzeby sadystyczne. Wniosek ten znajduje do -
datk owe potwierdzenie w fakcie, ¿e brutalnie strzela³ do
kobiety zas³aniaj¹cej siê rêkami. 

Analizuj¹c dzia³anie sprawcy, mo¿na stwierdziæ, ¿e
mimo dokonania zabójstwa dwóch osób, podczas zda -
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rzen ia nie ulega³ wp³ywowi silnych emocji, a w ka¿dym
razie nie dezorganizowa³y one jego dzia³ania. Œlady,
jakie pozostawi³ na miejscu zdarzenia, wskazuj¹ bowiem
na podjêcie przez niego dalszych logicznych czynnoœci:
zacieranie œladów przez usuwanie krwawych plam, prze -
mieszc zenie zw³ok do kuchni, przykrycie ich kurtkami
oraz kontrolowanie sytuacji na zewn¹trz mieszkania
przez nas³uchiwanie przy drzwiach. Analiza billingów
aparatów nale¿¹cych do ofiar wskazywa³a, ¿e po za bó j -
stwach sprawca pozostawa³ przez niemal dobê w ich
mieszkaniu i telefonowa³ z ich aparatów do osób og³a -
szaj¹cych w gazecie, ¿e zamierzaj¹ kupiæ samochód.
Umówi³ siê w mieszkaniu ofiar z co najmniej dwiema
osobami na nastêpny dzieñ na godzinê 16.00 i 17.00.
Poda³ takie terminy, pomimo, ¿e jednemu z mê¿czyzn
zale¿a³o, aby byæ na miejscu wczeœniej, przynajmniej
o 15.00. Trudno jest wyjaœniæ tê okolicznoœæ, bo wiem
z punk tu widzenia bezpieczeñstwa spraw cy, lo giczn iej -
sze by³oby jak najwczeœniejsze opuszczenie miejsca
zbrod ni. Ostatecznie sprawca wyszed³ z mieszkania
przez okno, za nim spotka³ siê z umówion¹ osob¹, za -
pewne w chwili, kiedy jeden z potencjalnych klientów
dzwoni³ ju¿ do drzwi. Prawdopodobnie sprawca zabra³
z miesz kan ia ofiar jak¹œ kwotê, gdy¿, jak wynika z pro -
toko³ów oglê dzin miejsca zdarzania, nie znaleziono tam
nawet drob nych pieniêdzy ofiar. 

2.3. Zabó jst wo ma³¿o nków K.

W dniu 10 marca 2001 r. (sobota) we Wroc³awiu
w blo ku wielorodzinnym, w mieszkaniu po³o¿onym na
2. piêt rze, zosta³y zastrzelone z tej samej broni dwie
osoby, ma³¿onkowie 50-letnia Maria K. oraz 64-letni
Marek K. Ofiary nie mia³y ¿adnych kontaktów z osobami 
z marginesu spo³ecznego. Ma³¿eñstwo dysponowa³o
dwo ma mieszkaniami, z których jedno Maria K.  wy naj -
mo wa³a lokatorom. W styczniu 2001 r. zamieœci³a
w Auto-Gie³dzie Dolnoœl¹skiej og³oszenie o lokalu do
wynajêcia, podaj¹c jako kontakt telefon do miejsca sta -
³ego zamieszkania. 

Zw³oki Marii K., le¿¹ce w przedpokoju, by³y ubrane,
nie zdjêta te¿ by³a drobna bi¿uteria. Z protoko³u sekcji
zw³ok wynika³o, ¿e zadano jej 6 ran postrza³owych,
w tym jedn¹ przechodz¹c¹ od szyi do jamy czaszkowej,
dwie w klatkê piersiow¹ (po lewej i po prawej stronie)
jedn¹ w okolicy lêdŸwiowej oraz po jednej na lewym
i pra wym nadgarstku. Rany te nie by³y zadane z przy -
³o¿enia. Ponadto mia³a ona otarcia naskórka na  ma³ ¿o -
winie usznej i na szyi. Wed³ug bieg³ych lekarzy s¹do -
wych, rana postrza³owa szyi i g³owy mia³a cechy ran
postrza³owych spotykanych u ofiar egzekucji. 

Zw³oki Marka K. ujawnione w przejœciu do pokoju
by³y równie¿ ubrane. Z protoko³u sekcji zw³ok wynika³o, 
¿e zadano mu 4 rany postrza³owe, w tym jedn¹ w g³owê,
dwie w okolice klatki piersiowej, przy czym jedna z nich

przechodzi³a do jamy brzusznej oraz jedn¹ w lewe ramiê,
przechodz¹c¹ do klatki piersiowej. Ponadto stwierdzono
podbiegniêcia krwawe w okolicy tarczycy i miêœniach
szyi oraz od³amanie koœci gnykowej, które mog³y po w -
staæ od dzia³ania narzêdzia têpego lub tê pokra wê dzi -
stego. Wed³ug bieg³ych lekarzy obra¿enia te wskazuj¹, ¿e 
denat by³ albo silnie œciskany, albo mocno uderzony
w sz yjê. Rany postrza³owe nie by³y zadane z przy³o¿enia. 
Rana g³owy zosta³a zadana jako ostatnia, przy czym tak¿e 
i ona posiada³a charakter ran spotykanych na ciele ofiar
egzekucji.

Drzwi do miesz kan ia nie by³y zamkn iête na klucz.
Zna lez iono na nich prz est rzel inê. W przed pok oju, ³azien ce 
i w kuch ni pali³o siê œwiat³o. W po koju by³o otwarte okno.
W miesz kan iu pa nowa³ og ólny porz¹dek, nie by³o wi -
doczn ych œl adów pe net racji. W port felu Mar ka K. znaj -
dowa³o siê 430 z³. Zgin¹³ te lef on ko mór kowy Ma rii K.,
brak by³o ró wnie¿ jej port fela z do kum enta mi i cze kami.
W po koju na sto le po³o¿o ne by³y umowy wy najmu, wy -
pe³nio ne tyl ko w czê œci do tycz¹cej w³aœ ciciela miesz kan ia.

2.3.1. Prze jawy dzia³ania spraw cy

Okolicznoœci wskazuj¹, ¿e sprawc¹ zabójstw by³
mê¿ czyzna, który umówi³ siê z ofiarami w celu wynajêcia 
mieszkania. Informacje o mo¿liwoœci wynajêcia miesz -
kan ia uzyska³ z og³oszenia zamieszczonego w gazecie.
Umówi³ siê telefonicznie z Markiem K. na 8 marca
(czwartek). W tym dniu nie uda³o siê im jednak wejœæ do
mieszkania, gdy¿ zaci¹³ siê zamek w drzwiach  wejœ cio -
wych. Stali wspólnie przed drzwiami przez kilka minut,
gdy Marek K. bezskutecznie manipulowa³ przy zamku.
Sytuacjê tê obserwowa³ przez wizjer swojego mieszkania 
ich s¹siad. Marek K. umówi³ siê ponownie na spotkanie
z po tenc jalnym najemc¹ na sobotê na godz. 11.00.
Wczeœniej w rozmowie ze swoim ojcem opisa³ go jako
mê¿czyznê w wieku oko³o 35 lat, wzrostu poni¿ej
180 cm, szczup³ego, z „de fekt em nogi”, któr¹ poci¹ga³,
jakby mia³ krótsz¹. Klient ten zatelefonowa³ do nich
w so botê przed godzin¹ 11.00. Telefon odebra³ ojciec
Marka K. Mê¿czyzna poprosi³ o przekazanie informacji,
¿e bêdzie móg³ przyjœæ o godz. 13.00.

Spraw ca mu sia³ st rzelaæ do ofiar wkrótce po wejœciu
do ich miesz kan ia. S¹sie dzi s³yszeli bo wiem po miêdzy
go dzin ami 13.00 a 14.00 odg³osy przy pom inaj¹ce krzyk,
„wrzask” ko biety lub dziec ka, huk jak by od trz aœniêcia
drzwia mi, g³uche uder zenie, jak by coœ lub ktoœ upad³. Na
klat ce scho dow ej by³o w tym cza sie ci cho. Le¿¹ce na sto -
le umowy wy najmu miesz kan ia by³y tyl ko czê œciowo
wype³nio ne, co wska zuje, ¿e nowy lo kat or nie poda³ jesz -
cze swo ich da nych. Spraw ca odda³ co naj mniej
11 strza³ów. Wœród ran po strza³owych za dan ych Ma rii K.
stwier dzono rany r¹k – praw dop odo bnie od nios³a je
w trakcie zas³anian ia siê przed na pastn iki em. Ma rek K.
op rócz ran po strza³owych odniós³ do datk owo urazy
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w okol icy tar czycy i miê œni szyi wska zuj¹ce, ¿e spraw ca
bar dzo sil nie ucis ka³ go lub moc no uder zy³ w szyjê.
Podobne, choæ mniej nasilone obra¿enia, odnios³a
Maria K.

Sprawca zabra³ z mieszkania ofiar portfel z kartami
kredytowymi i dokumentami oraz telefon komórkowy,
nie pozostawi³ przy tym ¿adnych widocznych œladów
penetrowania domu ani innej aktywnoœci.  Prawdo po dob -
nie opuœci³ miejsce zdarzenia wkrótce po dokonaniu za -
bó jst wa. 

3. Wyniki œledztwa, dane dotycz¹ce podejrzanego 
i jego wyjaœnienia

W marcu 2001 r. we Wroc³awiu zatrzymano sa mo -
chód jad¹cy z nadmiern¹ prêdkoœci¹ i pod pr¹d na jed no -
k ieru nkow ej jezdni. Kierowc¹ by³ Krzysztof G., który
w chwi li zatrzymania mia³ w powietrzu wydychanym
2,72‰ alkoholu. Wewn¹trz samochodu le¿a³a skórzana
torba raportówka, z której wystawa³a kolba pistoletu.
By³ to automatyczny pistolet Skorpion nr 00255, który
posiada³ dorobiony t³umik; w magazynku by³o 18 sztuk
ostrej amunicji. W samochodzie znaleziono te¿ m.in.
okulary w plastikowej oprawie, tubkê kleju oraz gazetê
og³oszeniow¹ Auto-Gie³da Dolnoœl¹ska, w której za zna -
c zone by³y trzy oferty wynajmu mieszkañ na terenie
Wroc³awia. Z opinii kryminalistycznej wynika³o, ¿e ³us -
ki, które zosta³y zebrane na miejscu wszystkich piêciu
zabójstw, pochodz¹ z tego pistoletu. Krzysztof G. za -
przec za³ jednak, aby mia³ coœ z nimi wspólnego. Twier -
dzi³, i¿ broñ kupi³ od pewnego Czecha, bowiem
otrzy m ywa³ telefony z pogró¿kami, ¿e je¿eli nie odda
d³ugu, to zostanie zabity on i jego rodzina. W ostatnim
okresie zajmowa³ siê poszukiwaniem pracy i w tym celu
podró¿owa³ m.in. do Wroc³awia, Poznania i Warszawy. 

W trak cie œled ztwa ujawn iono wie le œla dów wska -
zuj¹cych, ¿e Krzysz tof G. by³ w miesz kan iu Leny H.
Z opin ii tra seo logi cznej wy nika³o, ¿e œlad buta po zos ta -
wi ony na wyk³adzi nie dy wan owej w tym miesz kan iu
móg³ pocho dziæ od zelów ki jego buta. Po nadto zna lez io -
no na nim œla dy krwi po chodz¹cej od de natki oraz grud ki
gli ny po dobne do pr óbek za bezp iecz onych z gle by pod
oknem bal kon owym tego miesz kan ia. Œlady ma³¿owiny
usznej na wewnêtrznej stro nie drzwi miesz kan ia  odpo -
wiada³y tak¿e ma³¿owin ie uszu po dejr zane go. Ko le¿a nka 
Vio letty pod czas okaz ania roz poz na³a Krzysz tofa G. jako 
mê¿czy znê, który z przy klej ony mi w¹sami usi³owa³  sko -
rzystaæ z us³ug dziew czyny. Inna pro styt utka ze zna³a, ¿e
uprzedn io „gdzieœ wi dzia³a” po dejr zane go,  przypusz -
czalnie po miêd zy 2 stycz nia a 6 lu tego 2001 r. w po blis -
kim skle pie. Ochron iarze Vio letty L. stwier dzili, ¿e
Krzysz tof G. by³ po dobny do mê ¿czy zny, kt órego wi dzieli 
ko³o jej bloku, kiedy czekali na dziewczynê, aby j¹
zawieŸæ do solarium.

W wyniku badania lekarskiego u Krzysztofa G.
stwier dzo no siñce i otarcia naskórka na rêce, które mog³y
powstaæ oko³o miesi¹c przed badaniem. Ich  rozmiesz -
czenie sugerowa³o, ¿e badany móg³ byæ szarpany rêk¹
przez inn¹ osobê. Ponadto stwierdzono u niego siñce na
udach i krwiaka na lewym podudziu, który móg³ powstaæ
od kopniêcia lub skoku z wysokoœci oraz stan po urazie
koœci skokowej prawej powsta³ym od roku do dwóch lat
przed badaniem. Zdaniem bieg³ych, urazy koñczyn dol -
nych powodowa³y widoczne utykanie naprzemienne,
z prze wag¹ utykania na praw¹ nogê. 

36-let ni Krzysz tof G. by³ ¿onaty, mia³ 14-let ni¹ cór -
kê. Wed³ug opin ii ro dziny by³ do brym mê ¿em i oj cem,
nie po siada³ ¿a dnych na³ogów, ce chowa³ go sp okój
i  uprzej moœæ. Z wy kszta³ce nia by³ kie rowc¹- me chani-
 kiem. Do 1994 r. pra cowa³ w ko palni, sk¹d zo sta³ zwol -
niony w ra mach zw olnieñ gru pow ych. Otrzyma³ 3 tys. z³o -
tych od prawy, co po zwoli³o mu za³o¿yæ w³asn¹ fi rmê,
kt óra zaj mowa³a siê m. in. han dlem sto lark¹ bu dowl an¹.
Od 1999 r. fir ma zac zê³a mieæ tru dnoœci fi nans owe,
Krzysz tof G. by³ wi nien ró ¿nym ko oper antom w su mie
po nad 100 ty siêcy z³, a za raz em sam nie by³ w sta nie wy -
eg zekwowaæ nal e¿noœci od nie rzet elny ch kli entów.
Usi³owa³ odz yskaæ d³ugi, gro¿¹c d³u¿n ikom  zastrze le -
niem kog oœ z ich ro dziny. W zwi¹zku z wy mus zeni ami
zo sta³ areszt owa ny i prze bywa³ w wiêz ien iu od czerw ca
2000 r. do stycznia 2001 r. Wyszed³ za kaucj¹, któr¹
wp³aci³a ¿ona.

W li stop adz ie 2001 r. Krzysz tof G. przy zna³ siê do
do kon ania wszyst kich piêciu za rzuc any ch mu za bójs tw.
Z jego wy jaœn ieñ wy nika³o, ¿e pod czas po bytu w wiê zi e -
niu za plan owa³, i¿ bê dzie za rab ia³ po przez „œci¹ga nie
d³ugów”. Skon takt owa³ siê ze zna jom ym z Gda ñska, któ -
ry ju¿ kie dyœ za³atwia³ mu broñ paln¹. Za prop ono wa³ on
Krzysz tof owi G. kwotê 20 tys. z³ za do kon anie za bój -
stwa. Prze kaza³ mu ad resy i te lef ony kil ku agenc ji  to wa -
rzyskich na te ren ie Po znan ia na le¿¹cych do jed nego
w³aœc ici ela i po leci³ za bic ie ko gok olwi ek sp oœr ód osób
tam za trudn iony ch, da³ mu te¿ pi stol et ma szyn owy Skor -
pion. Krzysz tof G. umówi³ siê te lef oni cznie z jedn¹
z dziew czyn z agenc ji. Po wejœc iu do miesz kan ia  zorien -
towa³ siê, ¿e dziew czyna by³a sama. Za pyta³ j¹, czy mo¿e
sk orz ystaæ z to al ety i tam przy got owa³ broñ oraz za³o¿y³
t³umik. Bezp oœr edn io po wyjœ ciu z ³azienki strze li³ do
dziew czyny siedz¹cej na ni skim krze se³ku naj pierw
w  klat kê pier siow¹, a po tem w g³owê. Na stêpnie szyb ko
opuœ ci³ miesz kan ie. Po kil ku dniach po wiad omi³  telefo -
nicz nie ko legê z Gd añs ka o wy kon aniu za dan ia, jed nak
ten zwle ka³ z zap³at¹. Krzysz tof G. po stan owi³ wiêc za -
trzy maæ broñ do cza su otrzymania wynagrodzenia. Nie
by³ w stanie wyt³umaczyæ, dlaczego nie d¹¿y³  konse -
kwentnie do uzyskania zap³aty. 

W trakcie œledztwa ustalono, ¿e bezpoœrednio po tym
zabójstwie Krzysztof G. wyjecha³ poci¹giem do Kalisza,
gdzie przebywa³ do oko³o godziny 16.00 nastêpnego

Prob lems of Fo ren sic Sci ences 2005, LXIV, 401–416

Psychologiczna analiza dzia³ania oraz motywacji sprawcy... 413



dnia. Nie umia³ wyjaœniæ, co w tym czasie robi³. Ustal o -
no, ¿e telefonowa³ wówczas do kilku agencji  towa rzys -
kich oraz do ¿ony. Nastêpnie pojecha³ poci¹giem do
Wa³brzycha. Nie kupi³ biletu, gdy¿ jak twierdzi³, nie mia³ 
pieniêdzy i wypisano mu mandat za ten przejazd. 

Z dalszych wyjaœnieñ Krzysztofa G. wynika³o, ¿e
w zwi¹zku z brakiem pieniêdzy postanowi³ zrealizowaæ
plan, który obmyœli³ podczas pobytu w wiêzieniu.  We-
 d³ug tego planu mia³ wejœæ do agencji towarzyskiej i  za -
strze liæ prostytutkê, a potem wykorzystaæ jej mieszkanie
do zwabienia tam osób zainteresowanych zakupem sa -
mo c hodu. Planowa³, ¿e osobom tym przedstawi  tele fo -
nicznie bardzo atrakcyjn¹ ofertê sprzeda¿y, wiêc z pew -
no œci¹ przyjad¹ nastêpnego dnia z pieniêdzmi na jego
zakup. Krzysztof G. poda³, ¿e nie zamierza³ zabijaæ
ewentualnych klientów, lecz tylko zagroziæ im broni¹,
odebraæ pieni¹dze, zwi¹zaæ i pozostawiæ na miejscu za -
bój stwa prostytutki. W celu zrealizowania planu kupi³ we 
Wroc³awiu lokalne gazety z og³oszeniami, nawi¹za³
kontakt telefoniczny z prostytutk¹ i umówi³ siê z ni¹ jako
klient. Poprosi³ o mo¿liwoœæ skorzystania z toalety, gdzie 
zainstalowa³ t³umik do pistoletu. Po wyjœciu z toalety
zorientowa³ siê, ¿e w kuchni znajduje siê jeszcze  mê¿ -
czyzna, wiêc najpierw odda³ do niego kilka strza³ów.
Potem zacz¹³ strzelaæ do kobiety, która w tym czasie
wychodzi³a z pokoju. Nastêpnie wróci³ do kuchni i pod -
ci¹³ gard³o mê¿czyŸnie, który „jesz cze charcza³”. Potem
przeniós³ zw³oki kobiety do kuchni i przykry³ obydwa
cia³a kurtkami. Zmy³ œlady krwi w pozosta³ych po miesz -
c zeni ach, po czym, korzystaj¹c z telefonów nale¿¹cych
do ofiar, umówi³ siê w tym mieszkaniu na nastêpny dzieñ
z kilkoma klientami, którzy umieœcili w gazecie og³o -
szen ia, ¿e poszukuj¹ okreœlonego typu samochodu.
Z wyjaœ nieñ Krzysztofa G. wynika³o, ¿e spêdzi³ noc
w miesz kan iu ofiar, raz tylko wyszed³ na chwilê do skle -
pu po piwo. Nastêpnego dnia kilkakrotnie ktoœ puka³ do
drzwi. Uzna³ wtedy, ¿e sytuacja jest niebezpieczna, nie
czeka³ wiêc na umówionych klientów, lecz oko³o po³ud -
nia wyskoczy³ przez balkon, po czym zaraz odjecha³
samochodem. Z wypowiedzi mê¿czyzn, którzy w dniu
10 lu tego przybyli po zakup samochodów, wynika³o jed -
nak, ¿e oko³o godz. 15.30 widzieli w okolicy bloku mê¿ -
czyznê, którego ze zdjêæ rozpoznali jako Krzysztofa G. 

Wyj aœnienia Krzysz tofa G. po zos tawa³y te¿ w sp rze cz -
no œci z in nymi ustal eni ami œledz twa. Po mija³ on zupe³nie
du szen ie Leny H. oraz za daw anie ran k³utych pod brzus za 
i œró dbrzu sza Ja nus zowi S. Rany ci ête jego szyi  t³uma -
czy³ po trzeb¹ ostat eczne go do bic ia „charcz¹cego” jesz -
cze mê¿c zyzny, choc ia¿ Ja nusz S. zgin¹³ wsku tek strza³u
w g³owê. Krzysz tof G. nie poda³ te¿, ¿e za dawa³ do datk o -
we obra¿enia ma³¿onkom K. 

Z dalszych wyjaœnieñ Krzysztofa G. wynika³o, ¿e po
zabójstwie Leny H. i Marka S. postanowi³ ju¿ nie ko rzys -
taæ z agencji towarzyskiej, lecz wynaj¹æ mieszkanie, do
którego mieliby póŸniej przybyæ klienci z pieniêdzmi

w celu kupna rzekomego samochodu. Po wybraniu od po -
w iedni ej oferty umówi³ siê z w³aœcicielem mieszkania.
W miesz kan iu zasta³ mê¿czyznê i kobietê. Oczekiwali
oni, ¿e pobior¹ z góry op³atê za 6 miesiêcy wynajmu, on
zaœ chcia³ zap³aciæ tylko za jeden miesi¹c. Poda³, ¿e
zdenerwowa³ siê tym i zosta³ zmuszony do zastrzelenia
ich, chocia¿ pocz¹tkowo tego nie planowa³. Po  zabój -
stwie pospiesznie oddali³ siê z mieszkania, pomimo ¿e
mieli tam wkrótce przyjœæ umówieni klienci z pie ni êdz -
mi. Stwierdzi³, ¿e przestraszy³ siê, i¿ odg³os strza³ów
móg³ byæ s³yszany przez s¹siadów, gdy¿ podczas zda -
rzen ia w pokoju by³o otwarte okno. 

W toku œledztwa ustalono, ¿e Krzysztof G. zamierza³
skorzystaæ jeszcze z kilku innych ofert wynajmu miesz -
kan ia. By³ te¿ ju¿ umówiony z osobami za in t ere sow any -
mi zakupem samochodów. Podczas kolejnych przes³u-
chañ Krzysztof G. zaprzeczy³ tym ustaleniom, po czym
wielokrotnie zmienia³ wersje zdarzeñ, m.in. podawa³, ¿e
zabójstwa dokona³ ktoœ inny, a on jedynie towarzyszy³
zabójcy; w innych wskazywa³ te¿ na wspó³udzia³  ró¿ -
nych osób. 

4. Interpretacja i wnioski

Przystêpuj¹c do rozwi¹zania problemu postawionego 
przez prokuraturê, nale¿a³o przede wszystkim porównaæ
sposób dzia³ania sprawcy (czy te¿ sprawców) we wszyst -
kich zabójstwach. Ponadto niezbêdna by³a diagnoza mo -
tyw acji, jak¹ kierowa³ siê sprawca (sprawcy). Jednym
z istotn ych Ÿróde³ do wnioskowania w tym zakresie by³a
tak¿e analiza wyjaœnieñ sk³adanych przez Krzysztofa G.

Z analizy wyjaœnieñ Krzysztofa G. wynika³o, ¿e jego
dzia³ania mia³y za ka¿dym razem dwa etapy: pierwszy,
obejmuj¹cy przygotowania do zabójstwa i jego  doko -
nanie oraz etap drugi, obejmuj¹cy realizacjê celu, kt ó re -
mu zabójstwa mia³y s³u¿yæ. By³o nim uzyskanie korzyœci
finansowych pochodz¹cych z zap³aty za wykonanie zle -
cen ia zabójstwa b¹dŸ  rabunku innych ofiar. 

Wed³ug wypowiedzi Krzysztofa G., w pierwszym
przypadku dzia³a³ na zlecenie, w pozosta³ych zaœ re ali z o -
wa³ w³asny pomys³, który polega³ na zdobyciu pieniêdzy
od osób skuszonych mo¿liwoœci¹ kupienia po atrakcyjnej 
cenie dobrych samochodów. Ten ekonomiczny cel mia³
byæ wiêc dla sprawcy zasadniczy, zaœ samo zabójstwo
by³o tyl ko „etap em wstêpnym”, przygotowuj¹cym do
jego realizacji. Zwraca uwagê fakt, ¿e ten „wst êpny etap”
by³ przez Krzysztofa G. szczegó³owo zaplanowany
z uwz glêdnieniem mo¿liwych zak³óceñ i ewentualnych
zmian. Bior¹c pod uwagê sam¹ efektywnoœæ dzia³ania,
etap ten we wszystkich przypadkach by³ wykonany sku -
teczn ie, sprawnie i doprowadzi³ do œmierci 5 osób.
Spraw ca zaczyna³ od wyboru ró¿nych ofert spoœród og³o -
szeñ zamieszczonych w gazetach, nastêpnie nawi¹zywa³
kontakty telefoniczne i ustala³ adresy. Po rozpoznaniu
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sytuacji na miejscu zdarzenia udawa³ siê pod jakimœ
pretekstem do ³azienki, gdzie przygotowywa³ broñ do
u¿ycia (m.in. zak³ada³ t³umik). Po powrocie z ³azienki
w³¹cza³ telewizor i precyzyjnie oddawa³ strza³y najpierw
w okolicê klatki piersiowej, a nastêpnie w g³owê. Zwraca
uwagê fakt, ¿e w dwóch przypadkach skutecznie  kon tro -
lo wa³ zachowania dwu ofiar. Po zabójstwach po dej m o -
wa³ decyzjê o sposobie bezpiecznego oddalenia siê
z miej sca zdarzenia. 

Na uwagê zas³uguje silna tendencja do dokonania za -
bójstw mimo pojawienia siê szeregu obiektywnych
przesz kód i wysokiego poziomu ryzyka niepowodzenia.
Na przyk³ad w przypadku zabójstwa Violetty L. sprawca
nie zrezygnowa³ z podjêtego zamiaru, chocia¿ by³ wi -
dziany przez postronnych œwiadków, gdy przebywa³
 wczeœ niej w okolicy miejsca zdarzenia. Pomimo ¿e
w dniu zabójstwa Violetta wczeœniej go ju¿ odprawi³a,
kiedy usi³owa³ dostaæ siê do niej zamaskowany, to nie
zrezygnowa³ ze swego zamiaru i wieczorem przyby³ po -
nown ie do jej mieszkania. W przypadku zabójstwa Le -
ny H. nie odst¹pi³ od realizacji planu mimo utrudnienia,
jakim by³a obecnoœæ Janusza S.; zabi³ wtedy dwie osoby,
chocia¿ znacznie zwiêksza³o to jego ryzyko. W przy -
padku zabójstw Marii i Marka K. nawi¹zywanie wcze œ -
nie jszego kontaktu nie tylko z ofiarami, ale i z cz³onkami
ich rodzin, nara¿a³o go na ryzyko rozpoznania ze strony
tych ostatnich. Ponadto strzela³ do ofiar wielokrotnie
mimo otwartego okna w mieszkaniu. Powy¿sze  oko licz -
noœci wskazuj¹ na dzia³anie sprawcy w sytuacji  wyso -
kiego ryzyka, co sugeruje, ¿e wykaza³ on bardzo siln¹
motywacjê do zabicia ofiar.

Z punk tu wi dzen ia sk utec znoœci dzia³ania za bójcy,
za dan ie czte rem ofiar om do datk owy ch ob ra¿eñ – poza
po strzel eni em – by³o bez cel owe. Nie s³u¿y³o bez poœ red -
nio po trzeb ie ich uœ mierc enia, gdy¿ stwier dzono, ¿e
u wszyst kich ofiar ostatn imi by³y „eg zek ucy jne” strza³y
w g³owê. Tym bar dziej nie mia³o to zwi¹zku z pla now a -
nym po zys kani em pi eni êdzy od um ówi onych kl ien tów.
A jed nak obr a¿enia te zo sta³y za dane. Mo ¿na wiêc  wnios -
kowaæ, ¿e dzia³ania te wy nika³y z in nej – sa dys tycznej mo -
tyw acji, a nie de klar owa nej przez Krzysz tofa G. – eko -
no miczn ej. Sz czegó lnie wy raŸnie wi daæ to w przy padku
kil ku p³yt kich ciêæ no ¿em na szyi Ja nus za S., kt óre za -
dane zo sta³y ju¿ po od dan iu do tej ofiary dwóch strza³ów
(wiêc do ofiary ju¿ unier uch omio nej), a przed od dan iem
trze ciego, uœmi ercaj¹cego strza³u. Mo¿na wnioskowaæ
te¿, ¿e i w przy padku zabó jstw ma³¿onk ów K. spraw ca,
za daj¹c im do datk owe ob ra¿ enia, za spok aja³ swo je po -
trzeby sa dys tyczne.

Analiza danych wskazuje, ¿e podawany przez
Krzysz tofa G. g³ówny cel dzia³ania – osi¹gniêcie zysków
z zabójstw – nie zosta³ zrealizowany w ¿adnym z po -
wy¿s zych przypadków. Z wypowiedzi Krzysztofa G. na
ten temat wynika, ¿e po dokonaniu zabójstw obawia³ siê
nawet drobnych sygna³ów sugeruj¹cych mo¿liwoœæ zde -

mas kowa nia go. Np. po zabójstwie Leny H. i Janusza S.
uciek³ przez okno po us³yszeniu pukania do drzwi i nie
wróci³ ju¿ do mieszkania, chocia¿ prawdopodobnie prze -
bywa³ w okolicy jeszcze przez jakiœ czas i móg³ siê
zorientowaæ, ¿e nikt nie wszed³ do wewn¹trz. Nie  wy ko -
rzysta³ te¿ zabójstw Marka i Marii K. do realizacji
zwi¹za nych z tym zamiarów, pomimo ¿e móg³ siê zo rien -
towaæ, i¿ odg³osy zdarzenia nie zaalarmowa³y s¹siadów.
Je¿eli za³o¿yæ, ¿e pierwsze zabójstwo, tak jak poda³
Krzysztof G., zosta³o dokonane na zlecenie, to i w tym
przypadku tak¿e zwraca uwagê brak konsekwencji
w d¹¿eniu do uzyskania zap³aty za wykonane zlecenie. 

Wypowiedzi Krzysztofa G. na temat powy¿szych
 oko licznoœci równie¿ nie wyjaœniaj¹ braku jego sk u tecz -
noœci w d¹¿eniu do uzyskania zysków z dokonanych
zabójstw. Mo¿na wiêc wnioskowaæ, ¿e samo zabicie
ofiar by³o dla sprawcy celem g³ównym, pozosta³e zaœ
by³y tylko pretekstem do realizacji jego sadystycznych
sk³onnoœci. Zwracaj¹ przy tym uwagê przejawy sa dyz -
mu, bezwzglêdnoœci i brutalnoœci w traktowaniu ofiar, co 
nie jest zgodne ani z planem dzia³añ, ani jego realizacj¹
przedstawionymi przez Krzysztofa G. Zarazem jednak
rzekomemu celowi finansowemu poœwiêci³ on sto sunk o -
wo du¿o zabiegów (np. umawianie siê z osobami w celu
sprzedania im samochodów). Mo¿liwe jest wiêc, ¿e sta -
nowi³y one formê swo istego „uspraw iedl iwie nia” przed
samym sob¹. 

Analiza okolicznoœci czynów wskazuje, ¿e sadyzm
w za chow aniu sprawcy mo¿na wi¹zaæ z jego za bu r zeni a -
mi w sferze popêdowej [2, 4, 5, 8, 11]. Wprawdzie
Krzysztof G. prawdopodobnie nie odbywa³ stosunków
seksualnych ze swoimi ofiarami, jednak mo¿liwe s¹ inne, 
bardziej poœrednie powi¹zania zabójstwa ze sfer¹ po p ê -
do wo-sek sua ln¹. Wskazuje na to wybór agencji  to wa -
rzyskich i prostytutek jako ofiar, co by³o nieuzasadnione
z punktu widzenia realizacji planów zwabienia tam in -
nych ofiar. Przewidywanie, ¿e po zdarzeniu mo¿na tam
przebywaæ przez d³u¿szy czas, jest ma³o logiczne, gdy¿
s¹ to miejsca, gdzie w ka¿dej chwili mog¹ pojawiæ siê
postronne osoby (inne prostytutki, klienci, ochroniarze,
w³aœciciele agencji i lokalu, przygodni œwiadkowie itp.).
Ponadto nie bez znaczenia jest tu fakt, ¿e Krzysztof G. po
dokonaniu zabójstwa Violetty L., a wiêc jak poda³, po
wykonaniu zleconego zadania, nie wróci³ bezpoœrednio
do domu, lecz kilka godzin spêdzi³ w Kaliszu, telefonuj¹c 
w tym czasie do kilku ró¿nych agencji towarzyskich. 

Bior¹c pod uwagê zachowanie sprawcy w po szcze -
gólnych przypadkach, mo¿na zauwa¿yæ pewne zmiany
jego modus operandi. Usprawnieniu uleg³o powi¹zanie
zabójstw ofiar z wabieniem oszukanych klientów, np.
przez umawianie siê z nimi na coraz wczeœniejsz¹ porê,
tak, aby wszystko za³atwiæ w ci¹gu jednego dnia. Stop -
niowo nawet zacz¹³ umawiaæ klientów do mieszkañ,
w któr ych dopiero planowa³ zabiæ mieszkañców, praw -
dop odo bnie w celu ograniczenia mo¿liwoœci wyst¹pienia 
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dodatkowych przeszkód oraz zmniejszenia ryzyka. Mo¿ -
l iwe, ¿e zrezygnowa³ te¿ z maskowania (w¹sy, okulary),
kiedy okaza³o siê, ¿e utrudnia mu to nawi¹zywanie  kon -
taktów. 

Zwraca uwagê fakt, ¿e w kolejnych zabójstwach
wzra sta³a liczba strza³ów oddanych do poszczególnych
ofiar: od dwóch – w przypadku Violetty L., do szeœciu –
w przypadku Marii K. W kolejnych zabójstwach po ja -
wi³y siê te¿ przejawy zachowañ sadystycznych. Ich  nasi -
lenie by³o najwiêksze wobec ofiar w drugim zdarzeniu
(duszenie Leny H. oraz zadanie ran ciêtych i k³utych
no¿em Januszowi S.). Bior¹c pod uwagê dane wik ty m o -
lo gic zne, nale¿y przyj¹æ, ¿e wzmo¿onej agresji sprawcy
wobec Janusza S. nie mo¿na wyjaœniæ prowokacyjnym
zachowaniem siê ofiary. Mo¿liw¹ interpretacj¹ za cho w a -
nia sprawcy w tym zdarzeniu jest teza, ¿e przy zabójstwie 
Violetty L. nie osi¹gn¹³ on satysfakcjonuj¹cego  roz ³a d o -
w ania napiêcia, wiêc w krótkim czasie (po trzech
dniach!) i ze znacznie wiêksz¹ brutalnoœci¹ zaatakowa³
kolejn¹ ofiarê. W trzecim przypadku sprawca równie¿
nie poprzesta³ wy³¹cznie na oddaniu œmiertelnych strza -
³ów i poza postrzeleniem prawdopodobnie dodatkowo
dusi³ obie ofiary. Wy¿ej opisane zmiany i modyfikacje
zachowania w poszczególnych zabójstwach, szczególnie
zaœ nasilanie siê zachowañ sadystycznych, s¹ typowe dla
sposobu dzia³ania seryjnych sprawców zabójstw. 

We wnioskach opinii biegli psychologowie stwier -
dzili, ¿e z du¿ym prawdopodobieñstwem mo¿na przyj¹æ,
i¿ zabójstw Violetty L., Leny H., Janusza S., Marii K.
oraz Marka K. dokona³ ten sam sprawca. W dzia³aniu
sprawcy tych zabójstw powtarza³y siê nastêpuj¹ce  ele -
menty:
– zdobywa³ informacje o ofiarach z og³oszeñ pra so -

wych, nawi¹zywa³ z nimi kontakt telefoniczny jako
ich klient, ustala³ wtedy adres i termin spotkania;

– ofiary mieszka³y w blokach wielorodzinnych;
– wybieraj¹c jako ofiary prostytutki, najpraw do po do b -

niej nie korzysta³ z ich us³ug;
– wszystkie ofiary zginê³y od strza³ów z tej samej broni

palnej – pistoletu z t³umikiem typu Skorpion;
– wszystkie strza³y by³y oddawane z niewielkiej od -

leg³oœci, ale ¿aden nie by³ oddany z przy³o¿enia;
– ka¿da z ofiar zosta³a przynajmniej jeden raz po strze -

lona w pierœ, natomiast ostatnim obra¿eniem u wszyst -
kich ofiar by³ œmiertelny strza³ w g³owê o charakterze
egzekucyjnym;

– dodatkowe – poza postrza³owymi – obra¿enia stwier -
dzone u ofiar by³y w wiêkszoœci skoncentrowane
w obrêbie szyi;

– sprawca zadawa³ dodatkowe obra¿enia obu ofiarom
p³ci mêskiej; 

– w sytuacji, kiedy ofiary zas³ania³y siê rêkami, prze -
strzeliwa³ im rêce; 

– nie rozbiera³ ¿adnej z ofiar, nie zdejmowa³ te¿ z ich
cia³ bi¿uterii;

– sprawca w ¿adnym przypadku nie pozostawi³ œladów
wskazuj¹cych na penetracjê mieszkania, a zarazem
w ka¿dym przypadku najprawdopodobniej zabiera³
pieni¹dze lub inne przedmioty nale¿¹ce do ofiar
(telefon komórkowy, portfel z kartami kredytowymi);

– w trakcie dokonywania zabójstw w³¹czony by³ sprzêt
RTV, sprawca nie wy³¹cza³ go przed opuszczeniem
miejsca zdarzenia, pozostawia³ te¿ w³¹czone œwiat³a; 

– we wszystkich przypadkach zabójstw sprawca wy -
kaza³ silniejsz¹ motywacjê do zabijania ofiar ni¿ do
wyci¹gania z tego planowanych korzyœci ekono micz -
nych;

– sprawca wszystkich zabójstw przejawia³ cechy oso -
bowoœci zaburzonej typu psychopatycznego: cha rak -
teryzuje siê ona bezwzglêdnoœci¹ i brutalnoœci¹
w traktowaniu ofiar, ch³odem emocjonalnym, przed -
miotowym traktowaniem ofiar. Zachowanie jego nie
ulega³o dezorganizacji pod wp³ywem emocji. W jego
dzia³aniu ujawni³y siê wyraŸne elementy sadyzmu; 

– zachowanie sprawcy by³o typowe dla sposobu dzia³a -
nia seryjnych sprawców zabójstw.

– Kilka miesiêcy póŸniej w tej sprawie biegli opra -
cowywali te¿ drug¹ opiniê. Prokurator zwróci³ siê
z postanowieniem o przeprowadzenie badañ psycho -
logicznych podejrzanego Krzysztofa G. w celu wypo -
wiedzenia siê o cechach jego osobowoœci oraz o mo -
tywacji, któr¹ kierowa³ siê w przypadku pope³nienia
zarzucanych mu czynów. Przeprowadzone badania
m.in. potwierdzi³y wystêpowanie u podejrzanego sil -
nych tendencji sadystycznych. Badany zaprzecza³
jednak dokonaniu zarzucanych mu czynów. Jednak
w trakcie rozprawy s¹dowej oskar¿ony Krzysztof G.
zmieni³ stanowisko w sprawie, przyzna³ siê do do -
konania wszystkich zabójstw. Stwierdzi³ te¿, ¿e od -
czuwa³ satysfakcjê podczas ich zabijania, a szcze -
góln¹ przyjemnoœæ sprawia³o mu znêcanie siê nad
ofiarami. 
Krzysztof G. zosta³ skazany prawomocnym  wy ro -

kiem s¹dowym na do¿ywocie z mo¿liwoœci¹ ubiegania
siê o warunkowe zwolnienie dopiero po up³ywie 50 lat.    
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